
Board of Appeals Meeting 
October 16, 2019 – 7:00 PM 

Town Office Conference Room 
 

 
 

Meeting Materials 
 



Board of Appeals Meeting 
October 16, 2019 – 7:00 PM 

Town Office Conference Room 
 

AGENDA 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
 
MINUTES 
October 3, 2018 
 
APPEALS 
Administrative Appeal – Marla Dodie Rosenthal and Michael Rosenthal  

– 45 Garland Swamp Road – Map 32 Lot 8 
 
ADJOURNMENT 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 1 of 18 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER – Chairperson Mark Hyland called the meeting to order at 7:00pm with 
Members Gerard Bowes, Lou Ann Lancaster, Code Enforcement Officer Scott Neal, and 
Recording Secretary Sarah Merrill present. Members Joseph Radziszewski, Jr and 
Stanley Tetenman absent with notice.  
 
 
MINUTES – Member Bowes moved to approve the minutes for June 4, 2018. Member 
Lancaster seconded the motion. Discussion: None     Vote: 3-yes 0-no 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS – None 
 
 
APPEALS - Douglas Wight – Administrative Appeal – 108 Legendre Lane – Map 23 
Lot 6 
 

• Douglas Wight and Andrea Blunt are present and being represented by 
John Bannon, Esq. 
 

• Conflict of interest among members of the Board: Chairperson Mark 
Hyland asked if any members of the Board have a conflict of interest. The 
Board members all said they don’t have any conflicts of interest. 
 

• Standing: Member Bowes made a motion that the Wight’s have standing 
because they have had a permit denied by the Code Enforcement Officer. 
Member Lancaster seconded the motion.  
Discussion: None     Vote: 3-yes 0-no 

 
• Right, title, and legal interest by the Applicant: Member Bowes made a 

motion that the Wight’s have right, title, and legal interest by way of deed. 
Member Lancaster seconded the motion.  
Discussion: None     Vote: 3-yes 0-no 
 

• Thank you, Mr. Chair and Members of the Board, I’m John Bannon of 
Murray Plumb and Murray here representing Doug Wight on this appeal. I 
know as the Chairman said you have to have a really good case to persuade 
three people on the appeals board to grant an appeal. I respectfully submit 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 2 of 18 
 

that this is that really good case. I’m saying this not to brag, but just as a 
point of fact that I have been practicing land use law for thirty-seven years 
and I have worked with the shoreland zoning ordinance for all that time. 
I’ve seen lots of decisions that were close, a lot of decisions where I wasn’t 
sure of my position, but this is a case where I simply cannot find any 
support for the determination made by the Code Enforcement Officer. I 
have tried, but all signs within the ordinance point in the direction that Mr. 
Wight is entitled to his permit because there is nothing about renovating a 
structure that supports a nonconforming use and causes you to lose that 
nonconforming use. That’s the question that’s really before the Board 
tonight. Is there anything in your ordinance that causes Mr. Wight to be 
unable to have a permanent dock anymore simply because he wants to 
repair and renovate one that was damaged by the storm. I’ve already 
subjected you to many pages of text and typing and so forth. I will try to 
make this perhaps slightly more stimulating by turning this into a question 
and answer format where fortunately I ask the questions and answer them, 
so you don’t have to worry about any of that. I think it might help things 
flow better and be more interesting that the letter.  
 

• I have a series of questions, I think eight or nine of them, and I will try to go 
through them as quickly as I can. Question 1) What does the ordinance 
generally say about the continuation of nonconforming uses? That again is 
our target here. When does a nonconforming use have end or what can 
make it end? The principal provisions of the ordinance are §504.1 which 
provides that legal nonconforming conditions which includes 
nonconforming uses that existed before the effective date of this chapter 
shall be allowed to continue so that the requirements set forth in this 
section. So, the premise is that nonconforming conditions, although not 
allowed to expand, are allowed to continue as they were. So that’s our 
grounding principal in this §504.1.  
 

• §504.2A is similar providing that legal nonconforming uses may be 
transferred, and the new owner may continue the nonconforming use or 
continue to use the nonconforming structure or lot as subject to the 
provisions of this code. So, the ordinance is saying when the property 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 3 of 18 
 

changes hands grandfathered rights go with the land to the new owner. 
These are rights that the ordinance respects and aught to recognize in 
subsequent owners.  
 

• The most important provision in the ordinance, in my opinion, is the one I 
focused on in the part of a more recent letter that said this case isn’t really 
that hard is in §504.2B. I respectfully submit that the Board focuses on this 
section of the ordinance and then is able to exclude things that don’t really 
contradict it. It leads inevitably to the conclusion that Mr. Wight is entitled 
to repair his dock which was destroyed through no fault of his own, and to 
restore it as a permanent dock, which is the nonconforming use. §504.2B 
says in pertinent part “This chapter allows the normal upkeep and 
maintenance”. I won’t try to argue that what Mr. Wight is trying to do is 
just ordinary upkeep and maintenance as I think that might be a stretch. 
But it goes on to say, “This Chapter allows the normal upkeep and 
maintenance of legal nonconforming uses and structures including repairs 
or renovations which do not involve expansion of the nonconforming use or 
structure”. So, we know from this section that a property owner that has a 
nonconforming use such as a permanent dock is allowed to repair it and is 
allowed to renovate it without losing his nonconforming use rights. The one 
thing he can’t do is expand it and that’s the limitation that §504.2B puts on 
the landowner’s rights. But that’s not what Mr. Wight is proposing here. 
He’s not proposing to make this dock any bigger, any taller, or any different 
from what it’s been for the last seventy plus years. The overall point that 
I’m making is that §504.2B must lead this Board to the conclusion that Mr. 
Wight can go forward.  
 

• Some of the questions I’m going to ask myself are pretty simple such as this 
one: Question 2) Is Mr. Wight’s permanent dock a legal nonconforming 
use? Yes. Why is that? The ordinance defines a nonconforming use as 
follows “It’ a use of buildings, structures, premises, or parts thereof which is 
not permitted in the district in which it is situated”. The Code Enforcement 
Officer is completely right in interpreting the land use table as showing that 
permanent docks are not a permitted use in any of the shoreland zones. 
That is true, we would stipulate to that. We are talking about a use that is 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 4 of 18 
 

not permitted. But the definition goes on to say that “a nonconforming use 
is allowed to remain because it was in lawful existence at the time this code 
or subsequent amendments took effect”. This dock according to my clients 
and I imagine the testimony will be reinforced by other people in the 
audience, has been that this dock has been inexistence since the 1940’s. It 
was actually at one point bigger than it is now. It’s actually smaller than it 
was in its earlier days. The State shoreland zoning act wasn’t enacted until 
1971. I don’t know when the Town of Poland enacted it’s first shoreland 
zoning ordinance, but it couldn’t have been before 1971 because the law 
didn’t even exist. So, because this permanent dock, and it was built as a 
permanent dock, has been in lawful existence since before the ordinance 
declared it to be not permitted it is a legally nonconforming use under the 
definitions of your ordinance.  
 

• Question 3) Is Mr. Wight proposing to repair or renovate his nonconforming 
use within the meaning of §504.2B? Yes, he is preparing to repair or 
renovate his nonconforming use within the meaning of that section. The 
ordinance within §1402 defines repair as follows “To take necessary action 
to fix normal damage or storm damage”. And I want to emphasize storm 
damage in that definition of repair. Storm damage doesn’t tend to be slight; 
it tends to be pretty consequential. From the outset §1402 is allowing 
property owners to fix storm damage. We all know fixing an old wooden 
structure that’s been damaged by the storm you wind up using new wood 
in there and rebuilding parts of it or rebuilding all of it. Does that make it 
something other than a repair? No, not under the ordinance. Repair means 
taking every action to fix the storm damage and that is what Mr. Wight is 
proposing. There is another channel there which I would like to focus on: 
that the property owner is allowed to renovate his or her nonconforming 
use. That term isn’t defined in your ordinance, so it’s given its common 
dictionary meaning or ordinary meaning. I have provided in my letters 
three definitions of the term renovate. They include “to restore to a former 
better state as by cleaning, repairing, or rebuilding”. So that’s one common 
meaning of renovate that includes rebuilding. Another common definition 
is “to restore to good condition, make new, or as if new again repair”. That 
is more than patching things up a little bit. That includes a substantial 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 5 of 18 
 

change to the structure. As we all think about a renovation to a historic 
building where there will be very consequential changes in that sort of 
work. And the word itself is derived, to be fancy, from some Latin which 
means to make new again. This is one of the words that is used in your 
ordinance and it is something that Doug is allowed to do. He is allowed to 
renovate his nonconforming use which is the dock that is expressly 
authorized by §504.2B.  
 

• Questions 4) Is Mr. Wight proposing to expand his nonconforming dock 
use? And the reason I ask that question is that as I said earlier that is the 
only limitation in §504.2B which a lot owner is not allowed to do. He or she 
cannot expand a nonconforming use while in the process of repairing or 
renovating it. So, is what Mr. Wight is proposing an expansion of his 
nonconforming use? No. Fortunately the ordinance has definitions of both 
the expansion of a structure and the expansion of a use. I am more 
concerned with the definition of the expansion of a use because that’s what 
were really talking about. But to the extent that anyone is inclined to think 
about structures the definition of expansion of a structure is “an increase in 
the footprint or height of a structure including all extensions such as but 
not limited to attached decks, garages, porches, and greenhouses”. Mr. 
Wight is proposing nothing like that. He is proposing to reproduce the 
historical permanent dock that has always been there. So, there is no 
expansion of a structure. Way more importantly is the definition of 
expansion of use because that is the only thing that Doug is prohibited from 
doing. That definition in your ordinance is “an expansion of use is the 
addition of one or more months to a uses operating season or the use of 
more structure or ground area devoted to the particular use”. Here too Mr. 
Wight is not proposing that. He is proposing to make the structure exactly 
the same size as it has always been. I don’t know whether a dock can have 
a footprint under the definition of footprint in your ordinance, but we’ll just 
paraphrase that as size. He’s not making it any longer, or any wider, it’s 
shadow on the lake is not increasing at all, there’s no greater ground area 
going to it, and he isn’t proposing to add any more months of use to it. This 
brings me to a point that I think is easy to miss and needs to be kept really 
carefully in mind. The distinction between a temporary dock and a 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 6 of 18 
 

permanent dock under your ordinance has nothing to do with how a dock 
looks or how a dock is built. It has only to do with the number of months it 
is left in the water. Period. So, I am referring to this dock as a 
nonconforming use and that nonconforming use is its permanency not the 
structure. It’s the fact that he’s using it seven or more months in a twelve 
month period. So that is why we should not be looking at, although it is a 
structure of course in ordinary terms, what’s critical for Mr. Wight is 
whether his can continue and that use is the permanency of his use. Again, 
that doesn’t depend at all on how the dock looks. He could put in a tiny 
little dock and leave it in eight months of the year, and it would be a 
permanent dock. He could put in a gigantic dock and take it out every three 
months and it would be temporary dock. So how it looks has nothing to do 
with it. It’s only the time it’s left in the water. Mr. Wight isn’t proposing to 
change that at all. He’s also not expanding the use of the dock.  
 

• Question 5) This is a section that came up in the Town Attorney’s 
opinion/letter and perhaps in some other places and it §504.3.D.1. it seems 
as though some people have been placing a significant amount of emphasis 
on that or giving it special importance. That’s the section of the ordinance 
places some emphasis, and I would stress some, on reconstruction or 
replacement of some, and I would again emphasize some, nonconforming 
structures in a shoreland zone. So, question 5 as I’ve put it is does 
§504.3.D.1. have anything to do with this case? My answer is no, and this is 
why. First of all §504.3.D.1. is talking about nonconforming structures. 
We’re not here tonight to try and preserve a nonconforming structure. The 
reason the permit was denied was because the Code Enforcement Officer 
said it was a nonconforming use that could not be renewed. So §504.3.D.1. 
is irrelevant because it deals with structures rather than uses. But even if 
you wanted to go there, and this is one of the parts I don’t understand 
about this case, §504.3.D.1. applies only to structures in the shoreland zone 
that are nonconforming to the setback from water bodies. I didn’t read the 
ordinance that’s what the ordinance says and §504.3.D.1. expressly limits 
the applicability of that section to structures that are less than the required 
setback from a waterbody. Are docks subject to a setback from a 
waterbody? No. Under §508.27.B.1.a of the ordinance it is said expressly 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 7 of 18 
 

that the minimum waterbody setbacks do not apply to piers, docks, and 
other functionally dependent water uses. So §504.3.D.1. doesn’t apply at all 
here. We’re talking about a use and or structure that has no water setback. 
If it isn’t nonconforming to a water setback then §504.3.D.1. doesn’t apply. 
So, I submit respectfully and sincerely, that I don’t think it has anything to 
do with this appeal or the issues raised.  
 

• Question 6) Even if §504.3.D.1. does apply, does anything in that section 
say that the owner of a nonconforming structure that is put to 
nonconforming use will lose his or her nonconforming use if he or she 
reconstructs the structure? The answer is no it doesn’t say anything like 
that. For one thing §504.3.D.1.a. doesn’t even apply because a structure 
isn’t subject to a waterbody setback, but what would happen if it were and 
simply that if you had a nonconforming structure that’s less than the 
required setback and it’s destroyed by more than 50% of its market value it 
may be reconstructed or replaced provided a permit is obtained within one 
year from the date of damage or destruction and provided such 
reconstruction or replacement is in compliance with the waterbody 
setbacks to the greatest practical extent. That section doesn’t say tearing 
down or reconstructing even a nonconforming structure makes you forfeit 
a nonconforming use. This section literally says nothing about 
nonconforming uses. It certainly does not say that this kind of 
reconstruction causes a nonconforming use to lapse. So that this provision 
§504.3.D.1.a. does not support the Code Enforcement Officer’s decision.  
 

• Question 7) And I think this is a real important question is: is there any 
section of the ordinance that does cause a property owner to lose his or her 
rights to maintain a nonconforming use? The answer is yes, but there’s only 
one provision that does that. That is §504.4.B. We’re not looking for things 
by implication were looking for plain language in the ordinance that says 
when a property owner can lose his or her nonconforming use. §504.4.B. 
says  “A lot, building or structure in or on which a legal nonconforming use 
is discontinued for a period exceeding one year, or which is superseded by 
a conforming use, may not again be devoted to a nonconforming use”. This 
is really consistent with the laws on nonconforming uses in lots of context. 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 8 of 18 
 

Normally the rule is that if you stop using/discontinue a nonconforming use 
for a year you lose it. This is sort of the standard fair and that’s what this 
section says. If it’s discontinued for a period exceeding one year then you 
use your right to maintain it as a legal nonconforming use. Doug has not 
done that. He has not discontinued the permanent use of his dock at all. 
The second circumstance in which you can lose nonconforming uses is that 
you allow them to be superseded by a conforming use. Mr. Wight hasn’t 
done that either. He hasn’t constructed a temporary dock in place of the 
permanent dock. He hasn’t even removed the remains of the permanent 
dock as I showed you in the pictures. So no conforming use has superseded 
the nonconforming use of this dock as a permanent dock. But even if he 
blew it by discontinuing the use for a period more than one year or 
allowing it to be superseded by a conforming use he could still go to the 
planning board and for good cause shown get a one year extension of that 
time to continue the nonconforming use. That’s how protective this 
ordinance is of nonconforming uses. That’s how this ordinance works in 
terms of nonconforming uses. I can’t emphasize how important this the 
question in this case is: does anything that Mr. Wight is proposing cause 
him to lose to retain a nonconforming use? This section tells you that the 
only circumstances that will do that and neither of them apply.  
 

• Question 8) Is there any section of the ordinance that says the following 
“any nonconforming structure in a limited residential zone removed by 
more than 50% and rebuilt will be considered a moved structure”? Those 
are the exact words the Code Enforcement Officer used in his denial of the 
permit. The answer is those words are nowhere in this ordinance. There are 
no ordinance provisions which if you add them together or try to interlock 
them will get you to this sentence. The decision is that any nonconforming 
structure, we’re talking about uses here not structure, removed by more 
than 50% and rebuilt would be considered a new structure. No, they’re not. 
They’re considered still grandfathered existing structures. The second part 
of the Code Enforcement Officer’s reasoning was because in his view 
reconstructing this dock would make it a new dock and a new permanent 
dock is not permitted in the zone and he can’t permit it. But that’s not 
what’s happening here. Mr. Wight is not creating a new dock. It’s the same 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 9 of 18 
 

dock that’s being rebuilt and unless he has done one of the two things to 
cause nonconforming uses to lapse it remains a permanent dock. Nothing 
in what the Code Enforcement Officer’s decision said has any support in the 
ordinance with all due respect. I’ve looked and I cannot find it.  
 

• To sum up let’s go back to the simplest way to analyze this case, let’s go 
back to §504.2B. Was what Mr. Wight is proposing authorized by that 
section? Yes. Why? Because firstly, §504.2B allows normal upkeep, repairs, 
and renovations which do not involve expansion of the nonconforming use 
or structure. That’s allowed. It’s there in plain English that you’re allowed 
to engage in repairs or renovations on nonconforming uses without losing 
them. Secondly, Mr. Wight’s permanent dock is an existing legal 
nonconforming use because it’s existed since the 40’s. Next Mr. Wight is 
proposing no expansion of his legal nonconforming use, which is the 
permanency of use, there’s no expansion of that. The work for which Mr. 
Wight was seeking a permit is a repair as defined under your ordinance 
because it is necessary action to fix storm damage or it constitutes 
renovation of the dock within the ordinarily accepted meaning of that term. 
That’s it. The question before you is: is there anything that Mr. Wight is 
proposing that would cause him under this ordinance, the plain language of 
this ordinance, to forfeit his right to keep a dock in the water more than 
seven months of the year? And I respectfully submit that it’s not and for 
that reason I would respectfully ask the Board to grant the appeal. 
 

• Chairperson Hyland thanked Mr. Bannon and asked Mr. Wight if he had 
anything further.  
 

• Mr. Wight said he did. I want to just share a little of my personal history 
and give my perspective here outside the legal aspects. I came to know the 
property in 2000. I came to look down Legendre Lane because there was a 
property on the market, that the St. Hilaire’s were putting on the market. I 
was awed by the fabulous view, the beautiful clean lake, but one thing in 
particular that stood out to me was this permanent dock that was there. To 
me that presented an extreme value to the property and something I could 
engage with my family, at the time three boys ages 11, 9, and 6. I was 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 10 of 18 
 

enthralled with the property. I came back at a later point in time to talk 
with the existing owner and I brought my children along and I asked 
permission to see if they would be allowed to swim while I had a talk with 
the owner and looked at the property. Mr. St. Hilaire, the prior owner said 
absolutely go ahead, and the kids played in the water, they ran on the dock, 
they went swimming, and they just enjoyed it. So, it was a vital piece to me, 
it’s an extremely valuable asset that I want to retain and continue because 
it’s a part of the property. About five years later after I purchased the 
property in 2000, I had a family reunion going on. Mr. Norm St. Hilaire 
came back to take a look at the property. I gave him a tour though the 
house and he looked upon a couple pictures of my kids jumping off the 
dock and stopped and told me when he had an opportunity to sell the 
house, I had many offers. When I saw your kids jumping off the dock, 
swimming, and enjoying it that’s what turned his decision to sell it to me 
because he wanted to have that dock continue on with a family to enjoy it. 
For me personally that’s my goal to retain that extreme value for my kids 
and their kids so they can enjoy it. I just want to share a little bit of personal 
history that I think is relevant to what I’m looking to do.  
 

• Chairperson Hyland asked if there was anyone else who wanted to speak. 
 

• Andrea Blunt, Doug’s partner spoke next. I want to acknowledge that many 
of us in the room, maybe most of us in the room are here because we love 
Thompson Lake and want to protect it. I want to give a shout out to all of 
the neighbors that are here to support us which feels really good. Also, to 
speak to some of the things that Doug, and I think that he’s been a really 
great steward of the lake and when he purchased the property and did the 
landscaping he consulted with Phoebe Hardesty on how to do that so 
runoff didn’t go into the lake and the results of that planning are terraced 
gardens, rain gardens, and diverters in the driveway etc. It became a model 
garden that phoebe Hardesty would bring people to show them what was a 
good example of how to protect the lake. So that’s little history about how 
much we care about the lake. The other point I want to make I feel like 
there’s been a little confusion about why we use the word replacement and 
maybe that’s lead us down some of this path. I want to clear that up 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 11 of 18 
 

because I have the prospective on it. We initially were calling it a repair and 
it became a replacement on the advice of our contractor. And mostly what I 
think he was looking at was when we applied for the DEP permit, he 
wanted to make sure that we were as broad as possible so that when the 
DEP approved it, we had the latitude that we needed. You’ll see from your 
documents that we did get DEP approval. I know he didn’t really think, as 
John did a great job outlining, that because this was a grandfathered or 
nonconforming use that there would be any issues. And neither did we. I 
think we were a little naïve I think part of our naivete is that in Poland on 
Thompson Lake we definitely have seen where people have done complete 
replacements of nonconforming structures in the shoreland zone. Those 
have never been considered new and disallowed. So we were surprised 
that this standard was being put on our dock when it doesn’t get put on 
homes that are rebuilt and yet our dock is subject to this standard. I think 
that was part of our feeling that we had no reason to think that there 
would be an issue here. So, I echo what Doug has said about the value of 
this dock. We get a lot of enjoyment out of it, we know it adds value to our 
property, and it’s something we would really like permission to continue. 
Thank you.  
 

• Chairperson Hyland asked if the Board had any questions.  
 

• Chairperson Hyland said he has looked at the pictures and also the design 
the contractor is proposing. Is there any difference in the footprint here? It 
looks to him like he’s filled in areas that are currently open. Am I missing 
something there?  

o Mr. Wight states that it’s the same structure except that there’s no 
step down to the concrete blocking level end in the new design. The 
reason is because he feels this design is going to be stronger and will 
be able to resist the ice.  

o Chairperson Hyland asked how that works. Is he going to build up 
that concrete on the end?  

o Mr. Wight stated that right now it tiers down and they’ll have it go 
straight out.  



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 12 of 18 
 

o Ms. Blunt stated the only difference is that he plans to put big pins/ 
supports into the boulder in the center as shown in the pictures.  

o Chairperson Hyland asked for a picture of the dock. He’s looking at 
the dock in the letter of the 18th and it looks like it peaks in the 
middle and goes back down and he’s not understanding.  

o Mr. Wight stated that’s the damage caused by the ice.  
o Member Bowes had some specific questions about a picture. Ms. 

Blunt and Mr. Wight went up to Member Bowes to show him 
portions of the dock in answer to his questions.  

 
• Member Bowes asked why they would want to rebuild the dock like that 

because they’re going to have ice every winter and why they wouldn’t want 
to look at something different.  

o Mr. Wight stated that they have looked at other designs, but none 
were more satisfactory, and they couldn’t get it in there.  

 
• Chairperson Hyland asked if the dock design submitted by their contractor 

is exactly like the dock from 2002.  
o Mr. Wight stated that it’s similar, but the biggest difference is where 

they’ll drill into the rock for support.  
o Chairperson Hyland asked for specifics and Mr. Wight went up and 

showed him on a picture what changes would be made. Mr. Wight 
stated that it would be the same dimensions as it is now.  

 
• Chairperson Hyland asked Mr. Bannon to go back to §504.3.D.1.  

o Mr. Bannon stated that is the section he thinks isn’t applicable here.  
o Chairperson Hyland stated that this is a nonconforming structure. 
o Mr. Bannon disagrees.  
o Chairperson Hyland stated that the Town of Poland doesn’t allow 

permanent docks in the lake.  
o Mr. Bannon stated that is a nonconforming use.  
o Chairperson Hyland stated that it’s a nonconforming structure too 

because we don’t allow them.  
o Mr. Bannon disagrees and states that there is nothing about the 

structure that violates any dimensional standards.  



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 13 of 18 
 

o Chairperson Hyland stated that the mere existence of the structure in 
the lake violates the dimensional standards.  

o Mr. Bannon disagrees and reads the definition of a nonconforming 
structure. “Nonconforming Structure: A structure which does not 
meet any one or more of the following dimensional requirements; 
setback, height, lot coverage or footprint, but which is allowed solely 
because it was in lawful existence at the time this Code or 
subsequent amendments took effect”. Mr. Bannon then lists how the 
dock doesn’t meet the requirements.  

o Chairperson Hyland stopped Mr. Bannon on the footprint 
requirement and stated that was how the dock isn’t allowed.  

o Mr. Bannon stated that a footprint is defined as area on the ground, 
it doesn’t talk about area over the water.  

o Chairperson Hyland stated that it’s not on the water but is a 
permanent structure on the ground in the water because the 
concrete pier that hold that dock up and the big crib work 
underneath the other side is all footprint resting on ground in the 
water.  

o Mr. Bannon stated that that footprint isn’t going anywhere no matter 
what the Board decides which is why turning this down doesn’t make 
any sense.  

o Mr. Bannon stated he knows their supposed to be concerned about 
damage to the lake floor and that’s what the point of this is, but the 
concrete pier and rock are already there. No one is creating any more 
impacts on the footprint. He also stated that the during their 
ownership of the property they have removed some of the footprint 
of the dock.  

 
• Member Bowes stated that he respects the decision of the Code 

Enforcement Officer and thinks that it’s purely based upon the chart where 
it states it’s not allowed. However, because it’s been there for 80 years and 
its storm damage then it’s repairing and restoring what was already there.  

o Chairperson Hyland stated that if they were repairing it he wouldn’t 
have a problem. His problem with this is taking the whole thing out 
and replacing it with another nonconforming structure. His example 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 14 of 18 
 

was if someone had a house five feet from the lake they would make 
them move it back and this Board has done that dozens of times.  

o Mr. Bannon stated that unlike a house a dock is not subject to the 
waterbody setback. Mr. Bannon stated that this is a renovation to 
make the dock as new again as allowed in the code.  

 
• Mr. Bannon and Chairperson Hyland engaged in their earlier conversation 

about whether this is a nonconforming structure.  
 

• Chairperson Hyland asked the Code Enforcement Officer if he had any 
questions.  

o Code Enforcement Officer (CEO) Neal stated that it looked to him as if 
there had been a previous change already where the dock was 
expanded.  

o Mr. Wight stated there had been some changes, but no expansion of 
the dock. Mr. Wight and Ms. Blunt went on to try and explain the 
changes that occurred.  

 
• Member Lancaster §508.27 and Table 17 that states a permanent dock is not 

allowed but §508.27.B.1.a. states that piers and docks are not subject to the 
minimum shore setback.  

 
• Chairperson Hyland opened the floor for public comment. 

o Paul Legendre stated that he supports Mr. Wight’s right to repair his 
dock.  

o Lisa St. Hilaire stated that she has fond memories of the dock and she 
thinks it should be fixed.  

o Richard Legendre stated the dock should be repaired.  
o Another Mr. Legendre supports having the dock fixed 
o Ken Johnson supports the dock being fixed.  
o Lionel Ferland, Jr. supports fixing the dock.  
o Cynthia St. Hilaire also supports fixing the dock. 
o Chairperson Hyland stated the purpose of the Great Ponds Act and 

Shoreland Zoning Act to protect waterbodies.  
o Mark Pontbriand attested to Mr. Wight’s being a steward of the lake.  
o Heidi Jacques supports fixing the dock.  



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 15 of 18 
 

 
• Member Bowes stated that he’s hung up on the fact that the dock has been 

there for years and isn’t brand new and the damage wasn’t caused by them.  
 

• Member Lancaster stated that the impact on the lake already exists because 
they aren’t adding new footings so there’s no impact on the lake. 

o Chairperson Hyland stated that the shade from the dock has a great 
impact on the lake but agreed it has been there for a long time.  

 
• CEO Neal stated that the permit requested was not for repair it was asked 

for replace. 
o Member Bowes asked if CEO Neal can give a permit to repair a dock in 

the same exact footprint.  
o CEO Beal stated he can.  
o Member Bowes asked Mr. Wight if he would be satisfied with a permit 

to repair the dock not replace it.  
o Mr. Wight stated he would be.  

 
• Member Bowes asked Mr. Wight what the width of dock is 

o Mr. Wight stated it is twelve feet.  
 

• Chairperson Hyland stated §508.27.D.6. says “No new structure shall be built 
on, over or abutting a pier, wharf, dock or other structure extending beyond 
the normal high-water line of a water body or within a wetland unless the 
structure requires direct access to the water body or wetland as an 
operational necessity, said structures shall not exceed twenty (20) feet in 
height”.  

o Mr. Bannon Stated that this section doesn’t apply.  
 

• Chairperson Hyland closed the hearing and the Board will have discussions. 
 

• Chairperson Hyland stated he is having problems with replacing the whole 
structure, but he is okay with repairing it.  
 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 16 of 18 
 

• Member Lancaster stated she sees this falling under repair which is allowed 
if it’s 50% or less.  
 

• Member Lancaster asked Mr. Wight and Ms. Blunt if they’re planning on 
repairing the dock with only the changes to the rock.  
 

• Member Bowes asked Chairperson Hyland if the Board can grant the 
applicants permission to repair the dock only.  

o Chairperson Hyland stated that the only thing the Board can do is rule 
as to whether the CEO was correct in denying the permit. Or the 
applicants can put in a new permit application solely to repair the 
dock.  

o Mr. Bannon asked for clarification from Chairperson Hyland on this. It 
is his understanding that the Board can give permission to repair the 
dock. 

o Chairperson Hyland stated that Mr. Wight asked for a replacement of 
the dock not a repair.  

o Mr. Bannon stated that it is only a repair no matter the language used.  
 

• Member Hyland made a motion to grant the appeal for Douglas Wight with 
conditions that the existing dock be repaired to the condition it was before 
the storm damage. Member Lancaster seconded the motion.   
Discussion: None     Vote: 3-yes 0-no  Appeal is Granted 

 
 FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. Name of Applicant: Douglas Wight 
2. Mailing Address: P.O. Box 99 
3. City or Town: West Poland  State: ME Zip: 04291 
4. Telephone: (207) 998-8277 
5. Name of Property Owner (if different from applicant): Douglas and Candace 

Wight 
6. Location of property for which variance is requested (street/road address): 

108 Legendre Lane 
7. Zoning district in which property is located: Rural Residential 1 and Limited 

Residential 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 17 of 18 
 

8. Tax map and lot number of subject property: Map 23 Lot 6 
9. The applicant has demonstrated a legal interest in the subject property by 

providing a copy of a: Quitclaim deed. 
10. The applicant proposes to repair or reconstruct a permanent dock which is 

seventy feet (70’) long and twelve feet (12’) wide.  
11. The completed application was submitted on August 30, 2018. 
12. A public hearing was held on October 3, 2018. The public hearing was 

delayed till that date at the request of the applicant.  
13. The relevant sections of the Poland Comprehensive Land Use Code are: 

§504.1, §504.2(B), §504.3 (2), §504 (D), §504(D)(1), §508.27(A)(17), and 
§508.27(B)(1)(A). 

14. The other relevant factors are as follows: 
A. There was testimony from members of the audience and Mr. Wight 

that the dock had been previously larger than it is now, that concrete 
pier had been removed by him, that the dock is now smaller than it 
was originally, and that what he proposing to do is not to expand the 
footprint or size of the dock from the conditions that currently exist. 

 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: 
Based on the above stated facts and the provisions of the ordinance cited, the 
Board concludes that the applicant is proposing to repair a non-conforming 
structure and use and replace them with a structure that is lower in height the 
remaining size and dimensions will stay the same.  
 
DECISION: 
Based on the above findings of fact and conclusion, the Town of Poland Board of 
Appeals votes to approve your application for administrative appeal. If you are 
unhappy with this decision you may request a reconsideration by the Board within 
thirty (30) days of the date of this decision. You may file an appeal in the Superior 
Court within forty-five (45) days of the date of this decision. 

 
 
APPEALS: 
Parties aggrieved of this decision may appeal to Superior Court within 45 days from the 
date of the decision pursuant to 30-M.R.S.A §2691 and Maine Rules of Civil Procedure, 
Role 80B. 
 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

October 3, 2018 
Approved on October 16, 2019 

 

Page 18 of 18 
 

 
 
ADJOURN – Member Bowes moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:25 pm. Member 
Lancaster seconded the motion. Discussion: None     Vote: 3-yes 0-no 
 
Recorded by:  Sarah Merrill 

 
Board of Appeals 

 
 
________________________________                ________________________________ 
      Mark Hyland, Chairperson    Gerard Bowes, Vice - Chairperson 
 
 
________________________________                ____Absent with Notice____________ 
      Lou Ann Lancaster, Member            Joseph Radziszewski, Jr., Member 
 
 
___Absent with Notice______________  ________________________________ 
      Stanley Tetenman, Alternate       , Alternate 
     
 



Board of Appeals 

Rosenthal Appeal 

October 16, 2019 

 

 

Appellant and Abutter Notifications with Certified Mail Numbers 

















































Board of Appeals 

Rosenthal Appeal 

October 16, 2019 

 

 

Appellant’s Packet 





































Board of Appeals 

Rosenthal Appeal 

October 16, 2019 

 

 

CEO Packet to Board 
































	AB Minutes for 10.3.2018.pdf
	CALL TO ORDER – Chairperson Mark Hyland called the meeting to order at 7:00pm with Members Gerard Bowes, Lou Ann Lancaster, Code Enforcement Officer Scott Neal, and Recording Secretary Sarah Merrill present. Members Joseph Radziszewski, Jr and Stanley...
	COMMUNICATIONS – None
	Adjourn – Member Bowes moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:25 pm. Member Lancaster seconded the motion. Discussion: None     Vote: 3-yes 0-no




